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Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count)

Contributing Noncontributing
_ 1 0 buildings
sites
structures
objects
1 0 Total
Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register 0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions.)

EDUCATION/School
ELIGION/Church

SOCIAL/Clubhouse, Civic

Current Functions
f in ions.)
SucClAaLs/Clubhouse, Civic
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Na ‘e Description

Built in 1906, the Wilson Community House is located at the corner of Lake Drive and Adams

Street in the city of Wilson, Arkansas. It faces Lake Drive to the northeast. The one-story frame

building was constructed in the Colonial Revival style and has an exterior of original

weatherboarding siding and original four-over-four wood-sash windows. The building has a hip

roof of asphalt shingles. Its original brick and stone pier foundation is covered with a metal skirt.
e floor plan is rectangular.

On the main (northeast) fagade there is a one-bay portico with a hipped roof supported by paired
square, wood Doric-motif columns. The entrance was originally designed with wood steps and
ra ng but these were replaced ca. 1980 with brick steps in an elliptical design and with a
wrought iron railing. At that same time, metal storm/security doors were installed over the
original, five-panel, wood double doors. Above the entrance doors is a gable pediment with
brackets. The portico has side walls which contain original four-over-four wood sash windows.
1 nking the portico on either side are paired, original four-over-four wood-sash windows. These
windows have original wooden shutters that feature a quarter moon cut-out design.

Extending from the southeast elevation of the building is an enclosed side porch, which was
originally designed as an open side porch. It was enclosed with siding materials and sliding-track
windows ca. 1950. On the main (northeast) fagade the porch section has two pairs of six-light

ding track windows. On the southeast elevation there are four bays, from front to the back of
the building: the first bay has a pair of six-light sliding track windows; the second bay is infilled
with wood panels; the third bay has a pair of six-light sliding track windows; the fourth bay has a
secondary entrance with block steps and an original screen door leading into a rear hallway that
accesses both the porch and the kitchen on the interior. This side porch has a shed roof of asphalt
shingles and exposed rafter tails.

The rear (southwest) elevation has seven original four-over-four wood-sash windows. The
northwest elevation has an exterior, sloped-shoulder chimney of running-bond brick.
Approxim: “y fivet  from the ground, the chimney has a basket-weave course with a soldier
course above anc elow. The chimney is flanked on each side by a pair of original four-over-four
wood-sash windows.

The main entrance opens into an open floor plan with compartmentalization in its southeast
corner. The open space consists of a large sitting area centered on the fireplace on the northwest
wall and a smaller sitting along the southeast wall. The flooring material of these areas is
continuous, original hardwood. The walls have their original plaster finish above iginal
wainscoting. The floor to ceiling height is just over twenty feet and the ceilings have their
original beadboard finish. The large sitting area has added ceiling fans. The fireplace on the
north wall is exposed brick with an arched hearth opening. Opposite this wall in the sitting area,
the interior wall has original wood bookshelves.
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In the 1g area there is an original metal light fixture hung from the ceiling. The original

windows and doors to the now-enclosed porch are intact and visible. Leading to the porch are
fifteen-light, wood double-doors. The porch, enclosed ca. 1950, has an added acoustical tile
ceiling and florescent light fixtures. The porch retains its original wood floor. At the rear of the
porch is a narrow passage between a rear corner entrance and the kitchen.

The Wilson Community House’s kitchen is located to the center-rear of the building. It is
accessed from the front serving area. The kitchen has an original wood and metal flue and
original beadboard walls and ceiling. The kitchen has a floor surface of added resilient sheet

yoring and replacement cabinets, added in 1960. A narrow stairwell runs up the interior wall
between the kitchen and the serving area. These stairs access a small landing that overlooks the
kitchen and has two small rooms that were fitted into the high ceilings. These rooms have
original six-panel wood doors. They are currently used for storage. The building has a bathroom
In its central portion, next to the kitchen. This half-bath retains original hardwood flooring and
beadboard walls and ceiling. The bathroom fixtures are ca. 2000 replacements.

The building is sited on a rectangular lot and has landscaping consisting of several hardwood
trees, crepe myrtles and boxwood hedges along the front of the building. There are no
outbu lings associated with the building.
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Statement« Si_ ficance

y; cable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register
listing.)

X A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history.

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

% C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

:l D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or
history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes

B. Removed from its original location

C. A birthplace or grave

D. A cemetery

. A reconstructed building, « ject, or structure

F. A commemorative property

G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years

Section 8 page 7



United States Department of the Interior

Natinnal Park Service /' > Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NP{

10-900 OMB No. 1024-0018

Wilson Community House

ne of Property

-eas of Sig1 ‘icance

nter categories from instructions.)
ARCHITECTURE
'COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT & PLANNING

Period of Significance
1906-1965

Significant Dates
1906

Sigi ‘icant Person
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.)
N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Arch :ct/Builder
Tk wn_
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transmitted dis e, which claimed the life of Josiah Wilson’s wife. Yet for many westward
settlers, the prospects of fertile land outweighed the threat of disease, and Mississippi County’s
population increased to 2,368 by 1850. Over the next decade, cotton prices soared, and the delta

inds west of the Mississippi River continued to draw new settlers. Wilson expanded his land
holdings by 1850 to 900 acres, on which he raised food crops, but no cotton. Over the next
decade, Wilson grew his farming operation to 2,300 acres and began growing cotton. During the
same period, Wilson also increased his number of slaves from twenty-one to forty. By 1860, the
county’s population was 3,898, and there were 17,584 acres of land in cultivation.’

With the Civil War, Mississippi County’s agriculture declined, as did the wealth of its farmers.
During the 1860s, Josiah Wilson moved to Memphis, placing his son-in-law Napoleon Lafont in
charge of © erations at his Arkansas plantation. Wilson died in 1870 without a will in place,
leaving his heirs to divide his assets. His youngest son, Robert Edward Lee Wilson, ultimately
inherited 400 acres of timberland.

Known as “Lee” throughout his life, Wilson proved a natural competence for business and
assisted is siblings, half-siblings, their spouses and children in business and legal matters. As
Wilson’s relatives succumbed to poor health and their finances to poor management, he
succeeded in resolving legal and business problems on their behalf. Wilson apparently was
equally endowed with superior health; as his relatives died from various ailments, he purchased
the parcels that ultimately re-consolidated his father’s 2,300-acre estate. Additionally, Wilson
bought thousands of acres adjacent to his familial tracts. During this period, Wilson married
lizabeth Beall, for whom he built a 3,000-square foot home, and went into business with her
father as Wilson and Beall Lumber Company.® Beall operated Wilson’s sawmill, while Wilson
himse built six miles of roads from the river to logging camps, establishing a successful and
profitable partnership.” Wilson also assumed a patriarchal role among his surviving family
members, bringing them and their future spouses into his business and household, in some
instances. Workers and family settled a small village, named Wilson, in 1886.

Wil was equally adept in both farming and in social/business settings. As his sawmill
proc 1 000 board 1 :° day by 39, he conducted business with lumber dealers and

anufacturers in the metropolises for Chicago and St. Louis.® In local business, Wilson regularly
att led levee boz n tings, advocating flood control systems to combat the constant
challenges of his »od-prone landscape. Wilson carefully cleared his timber lands for cultivation
in cotton. Also, in this period of Northern business influx in the South, Wilson remained
dedicated to building his empire, maintaining ownership and management of his business
operations v ile courting, but not selling out to Northern capital.”

? Jeannie Whayne, Delta Empire, 21, 25-7.

“ Ibid., 45-47.

5 Goodspeed Publishing Company, Biological and Historical Memoirs of Northeast Arkansas, (Chicago: Goodspeed
Publishing Company, 1889), 509.

® Ibid.

7 Whayne, 48.
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As il 1 bought timber lands and cleared them for farming, he planted three crops: half his
t able land was put into cultivation for cotton, his cash crop. The remaining fields were equally
divided for the growing of alfalfa and corn, to feed his work mules.® After 1880, the productive
landscape of eastern Arkansas attracted labor from the Deep South. Wilson hired black and white
wo ers in his sawmill, camps, and fields. During this period Wilson employed 100 workers in
his cotton fields and 30 men in his lumber mill.” He built tenant houses, advancing costs to
workers throu  his company store. Unlike many company towns of the period, Wilson enjoyed
a higher-then-average standard of living. With the exception of railroad employees and the
postmaster, all residents enjoyed access to company doctors for just $1.25 per year.'”

In 1905, Wilson incorporated his timber and agricultural enterprise as Lee Wilson and Company.
During the ea 20™ century, Wilson adopted progressive-era strategies, including the division
of his vast ind holdings into smaller plantations efficiently overseen by individual managers
v o reported to a general manager. The company town of Wilson was neatly arranged with
workers’ houses surrounding the company’s administrative buildings; industrial and agricultural
buildings were located across the rail line running parallel to Main Street (US Highway 61). One
block to the northwest of the Town’s public/commercial district, the Wilson Community Club
House was constructed to serve the growing community as a school and church. "

Located at Lake Drive (formerly Union Avenue) and Adams Street, the Wilson Community
House was constructed in 1906 in the Colonial Revival style, with a portico with Doric-motif
columns and a pediment over the entrance. The building’s simple, open floor plan, white plaster
we 3 above wainscoting, and white beadboard ceilings expressed the important principles of
sir  licity and efficiency of the Colonial Revival style. This style was popular during the early
20" century for both residential and public buildings, such as schools and meeting houses. The
style was embraced during this period as a shift away from ostentatious Victorian designs having
highly compartmentalized interiors with specialized rooms of use that separated people by
gender or age. The open plan of the Wilson Community House allowed for efficient use of the
space for large numbers of people, gathered together as a group.

Life in Wilson was known for its strong civic and educational benefits, as well as the support the
community benefactor, Lee Wilson. In 1920, he donated the land and paid for much of the cost
of construction ($150,000) of the Wilson K-12 located school south of the town square. The new
school created a vacancy in the Wilson Community House building, and the Ladies Cooperative
Club, established in 1914, moved into the building. Previously, the Cooperative Club had met in

# R.E.L. Wilson 111, Oral Histories, “Founding of Wilson, Arkansas,” and “Wilson’s Three Crop Formula,” accessed
October 23, 2014, at http:/libinfo.uark.edu/SpecialCollections/ardiglib/leewilson/av.html

® Goodspeed, 509.

' University of Arkansas Libraries Special Collections staff, "Life in Wilson, Lee Wilson & Company Archives,
accessed October 23, 2014, at htip://libinfo.uark.edu/SpecialCollections/ardiglib/leewilson/default.asp

" Katherine Cullom, “2 istory of the Wilson Club House and Cooperative Club,” in The Delta
Historical Review, (Blytheville, AR: Mississippi County Historical and Genealogical Society, Summer
1993), 1.

Sections 9-end page 11









U s Department of the Interior
Nationa * Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

NPS Form 1u-900 OMB No. 1024-0018
Wite~~ “ommunity House Mississippi County, AR
Nai operty County and State

Wil 1’s population has s dily declined since 1960, when 1,191 people lived in the
community. Mechanization of agriculture, especially the cotton industry, reduced the need for
borers, and former Wilson employees moved elsewhere. By 2010, Wilson had 903 residents.
t that time, the Wilson family, heirs to Lee Wilson’s dynastic holdings, sold the entirety of their
real estate properties, as well as the own itself. Entrepreneur Gaylon Lawrence, Jr., of
Nashville, Tennessee, purchased Wilson for an estimate $110 million. Lawrence plans to re-
invent the town and its surrounds as Delta mecca of arts, culture. and education.?!

In the mid-20™ century, the community of Wilson was praised as a model of Progressivism, with
a modern school building, above average amenities for a rural community, and numerous civic-
minded social clubs. In addition to social and civic gatherings, the Wilson Community House
also hosted Wilson Company meetings. Lee Wilson remained a domineering force in all
company matters, including the manager meetings held within the Community House.” Over the
years, the Wilson Community House has hosted hundreds of events, such as anniversary and
wedding receptions, graduation celebrations and class reunions, dances and parties, lunches and
dinners, and regular meetings of the Ladies Cooperative Club. The Club has been involved in the
beautification of the Wilson grounds (planting roses along US Highway 61 and supplying
Christmas wreaths for the town square), sponsoring the Girl Scouts, awarding scholarships to
graduating Wilson High School students, assisting needy families during Christmas, visiting
nursing homes, and opening its doors as host to parties, dances, wedding receptions, and other
local 1bs. The Cooperative Club has regularly held bake sales, lunches, calendar sales, and
other fund-raisers that give back to the community. In the early 1990s, the club funded the
expansion of the Town Library. The Cooperative Club is the oldest continuous club meeting in

1ississippi County, Arkansas.” The Club has become synonymous with the Wilson Community
House, which embodies the mutually supportive character of the town of Wilson and its
residents.

2 Kim Severson, “Arkansas Town’s New Owner Has Visions of Its Renaissance,” The New York Times, January 19,
2014, available at http://www.nytimes.com/2014/01/20/us/arkansas-towns-new-owner-has-visions-of-
-renaissance.html?nl=todaysheadlines&emc=edit_th 20140120& r=0
2 Whayne, 169
2 lllom, 7-8.
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1. Latitude: 35.570432 N

2. Latitude:

3. Latitude:

4. Latitude:

Or
UTM References

Datum (indicated on USGS map):

NAD 1927 or

1. Zone:
2. Zone:
3. Zone:

4. Zone:

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

Longitude:
Longitude:
Longitude:
NAD 1983

Easting:

Easting:

Easting:

Easting :

Longitude: -90.041211 W

Northing:
Northing:
Northing:

Northing:

Mississippi County, AR

County and State

The boundary for the Wilson Community House is the entire 0.46-acre tax parcel on which
the building is located, at 10 T " e Drive at the corner of Adams Street. The parcel’s ID

number is 8 00070-000.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.)
storically, this parcel was designated as Lot 8 in Block 2 when the Town of Wilson was
itted. The parcel retains that designation in current tax records. The boundary contains the

entire parce! istorically associated with the Wilson Community House.
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)rm  rep y

name/ti :: Andra Kowalcz Martens, edited by Ralph S. Wilcox, National Register &
Survey Coordinator

organization: Arkansas Historic Preservation Program

street & number: 323 Center Street, Suite 1500

city or town: Little Rock state: _AR zip code:_72201

e-mail: ralph@arkansasheritage.org

telephone: (501) 324-9787

date: February 3, 2015

Add onal Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

e 1T s: AUSC maporequivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's
location.

e Sketch m: for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous
resources. Key all photographs to this map.

e Ad( ionalitems: (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.)
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he 1926 Sa  orn Insurance Map shows the building listed as “Club House” with an open

porch on the east elevation.
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hotogra) s

1bmit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to

e photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer,
photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on
every photograph.

I oto Log

Name of Property: Wilson Community House

City or Vicinity: Wilson

County: Mississippi State: Arkansas
Photographer: Phil Thomason

Date Photographed: October 18, 2014

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of
camera:

1 of 11. Northeast elevation.

2 of 11. Portico and main entrance on northeast elevation.
3 of 11. Side porch of southeast elevation.

4 of 11. Southwest and northwest elevations.

5 of 11. Northwest elevation.

.6 of 11. Open plan interior, view of meeting rooms.
7 "11.M: me = room,v vic vt

8 of 11. Main meeting room, view to northwest.

9 of 11. Foyer and serving area, view to east.

10 of 11. Enclosed side porch, view to north.

11 of 11. Kitchen.

Paperwc Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response
to this reques!  "equired to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460
et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding
this burden e:  1ate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior,
1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.
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